FILED
Oct 15, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 93387-6

Court of Appeals No. 26830-6-III (Consolidated with 26204-9-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

v.

FILED OCT 202015

DALLIN D. FORT, Respondent

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON PL

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney

Brian C. O'Brien Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

### **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Respondent below, respectfully requests that this court review two issues from the Court of Appeals' published decision, *State v. Fort*, No. 26830-6-III consolidated with 26204-9-III.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is there an irrefutable presumption that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise an open court allegation when, at the time of appeal, approximately ten years ago, the complained-of voir dire was a favored trial practice employed purely to benefit the defendant's right to a fair trial?
- 2. Is a new ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim first asserted in a 2015 amendment to a 2006 personal restraint petition (PRP), timely under RCW 10.73.090, where this new claim is asserted eight years after the mandate issued on defendant's first appeal resolving all issues relating to the trial and conviction? Or did defendant's meritless second appeal filed in 2008 after the resentencing with only a minor offender score adjustment, still under review in 2015, create a "super exception" to review by opening the door to any and all claims that could have been raised in the original appeal?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEDURAL FACTS.<sup>1</sup>

On February 3, 2006, a jury found Dallin Fort guilty of two counts of rape of a child in the first degree. On April 3, 2006, the trial court sentenced the defendant to a minimum of 132 months' confinement, with a maximum term of life. Attach. A, Opinion, at 4.

On April 21, 2006, defendant appealed his original conviction and sentence (Court of Appeals No. 25139-0).

On October 24, 2006, appellate counsel filed the brief for Defendant's first direct appeal. In the brief, Defendant argued that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct and the trial court erred in failing to consider his two convictions as the same criminal conduct for sentencing. *State v. Fort*, 140 Wn. App. 1023, No. 25139-0, 2007 WL 2476003. Defendant did not claim a violation of his public trial rights during his first appeal. On June 12, 2007, defendant filed a personal restraint petition, in which he argued that the trial court violated his and the public's right to the open administration of justice. On September 4, 2007, in an unpublished opinion, the court of appeals affirmed Fort's convictions, but reversed the sentence and remanded for resentencing. *State v. Fort*, 2007 WL 2476003 at 4. The court of appeals held that the trial court erred in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The procedural facts have been taken from the Opinion, pages 4-8.

failing to count Fort's two convictions as the same criminal conduct. *State* v. Fort, 2007 WL 2476003 at 2–3. On December 4, 2007, the court of appeals issued its mandate on this first appeal.

On February 5, 2008, Fort filed his second notice of appeal. In his notice of appeal, he sought review of the trial court's denial of his motion for a new trial.

On March 19, 2008, Fort filed his opening brief for his second direct appeal. In his opening brief for his second direct appeal, Fort did not allege ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to assert a violation of his public trial rights in his first direct appeal.

After several stays relating to pending open court cases, the State and defendant both responded to the appellate court's limited invitation to file supplemental briefing regarding the applicability of *State v. Frawley*, 181 Wn.2d 452, 334 P.3d 1022 (2014), *In re Coggin* 182 Wn.2d 115, 340 P.3d 810 (2014), and *In re Speight*, 182 Wn.2d 103, 340 P.3d 207 (2014), and to do so by March 25, 2015. See Appellate Court letter dated February 19, 2015. The State timely responded. The defendant responded on April 3, 2015, not as requested, but instead arguing for the first time that appellate counsel for his first direct appeal was ineffective for not asserting a public trial violation. He did so without moving to amend his PRP in the court of appeals.

#### **B. JURY SELECTION FACTS**

A defendant is entitled to a jury that is not predisposed to convict him. To that end, in a sex case, a defendant wants to determine if jurors with prior experiences of rape and abuse are biased. That was the purpose in this particular case for conducting individual in-chambers voir dire. Even Mr. Fort recognized the importance of juror candor, to the point that he requested that he not be present for the in-chambers questioning, so that the jurors would openly communicate with his attorney.

Well, the reason why I decided not to be present was because I felt if the people had experiences, that if I was in the room with them, then they would know what I have been charged with and that they would feel uncomfortable with me in the room and wouldn't be as open to discussion with my attorney.

#### RP 41 11, 4-10.

There was no objection to this process by the defense. No prejudice was shown.<sup>2</sup> This limited partial closure of voir dire only involved potential jurors that had divulged in a two-question questionnaire

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Opinion at 38: "Fort's chances of obtaining an impartial jury increased with the temporary closure of the courtroom. Thus we reject Fort's request, in his personal restraint petition, for a new trial because his trial violated his right to an open courtroom and public jury selection."

that they had personal experience in sexual abuse situations.<sup>3</sup> The process was highly beneficial to the defendant in his quest for a fair and impartial jury. His attorney engaged in in-depth discussions with these potential jurors that could not have occurred in an open court setting where the discussions of such personal encounters and feelings would necessarily be stilted.

The insight this type of voir dire provides was best articulated by the trial court when juror No. 26 was interviewed. Her responses alone

First is "Have you had any experience with a similar or related type of incident or with sexual abuse of any nature, whether as a witness, victim or one accused of any assault of a sexual nature. If so, explain.

The second question says, "Have you had a family member, relative or close friend who has had any experience with a similar related type of incident or with sexual abuse of any nature, whether as a witness, victim or one accused of any assault of a sexual nature. If so, explain. Then if you wish to give us some information, you can do so on that line.

I am sure that you can appreciate the need for discussing these matters. But, also, we try to respect your privacy in these matters as much as we can.

RP 34-35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The closure was narrowly tailored by the court to accommodate only those jurors who affirmatively answered one of the following questions:

would not have caused her removal from the jury for cause. The judge removed the juror *for cause*, noting:

THE COURT: Well, you know, one of the things I look at in these things is look at their body language and how they react. You know, in some cases, maybe somebody with this situation, you know, might be able to sit. But I think that I really got the sense that this is really a painful situation going on right now that she is still in the middle of living out, because of the whole dynamics with her mother's illness and having to have that contact with her, the whole situation with the step-father, the closeness with the sister, you know. I could see a lot of pain in her face. In some cases, maybe somebody with that history I think could be able to serve, but it just looks like this just really would weigh very heavy on her emotionally right now, given the whole dynamics of the family. So I will go ahead and excuse her.

RP 160, ll. 7-23.

Other jurors revealed very personal information that would not have been uncovered in a regular court room. Juror 46 revealed he was abused and that hat he had never disclosed this fact to anyone other than his mother. RP 179. Moreover, the trial court was able to ask him if the particular abuse involved penetration. RP 178.

Juror 4 informed the court that her niece had been raped, and was able to discuss the circumstances surrounding the abuse and the fact that the rape was not reported to the authorities. RP 44-47.

Juror 6 had been sexually molested by a Boy Scout master while in the fourth grade. He had trusted the molester. He candidly stated he did not think he could be fair: "I don't know if he is guilty or not, but it is hard for me to be impartial if there is evidence pointing in that direction." RP 52. He thought the present case may hit "to close to home." *Id.* Juror 6 was excused. Juror 7's wife's best friend was a victim of sexual abuse as a child, and her father was the abuser. Juror 7 did not believe he could be impartial. He was excused. RP 58. Juror 8 had a friend that was raped while attending a university. RP 62.

Juror 11 had an extensive discussion regarding his wife and step-daughter being victimized. RP 67-73. His wife was victimized from the age of seven through her teens. She later filed charges against her former husband for child molestation. Juror 11's step-daughter was 31 and "still in a shell from this." RP 69, 1l. 2-5. His wife was still haunted by her experiences. RP 69. Asked if he could be fair, he stated: "You know, I would like to think I can, but, to be honest with you, I really don't know, because the issue is too close to home." RP 72, 1l. 2-7. His wife never got past it. *Id.* He was released without objection. RP 73.

Juror 12's ex-son-in-law was accused of sexual assault, an assault that was witnessed by his granddaughter. RP 74. His granddaughter was not doing well because of the incidents - she had been molested and her friend raped by her father while visiting her father. RP 75. Because of

this, he disclosed that he could not be impartial. RP 77-78. He was excused.

Juror 13 had been sexually assaulted by her ex-husband and felt bad because she had not reported it. It was suspected that her son had been molested at day care. Because of this, she divulged that she could not treat the defendant as innocent until proven guilty. She was released. RP 79-86.

Juror 15 was abused as a child by her Godfather and by her babysitter. She was interviewed extensively by the judge and the attorneys regarding the incidents and how she felt about sitting on this type of case. RP 86-99.

Juror 19 revealed that when he was a teacher, a student reported that he had been raped by a fellow student to him. He also had a first cousin that had been assaulted by her father. RP 100-107.

Juror 20 had a daughter who was sexually abused by a family member. The two separate incidents occurred when she was two and four years of age. RP 110. Juror 20 had walked in on one of the assaults. The nephew was prosecuted. The nephew had to write letters of apology when he was released. RP 110-119.

Juror 23 had a daughter that was in counseling for being abused by the juror's brother-in-law's son. The daughter did not disclose who had abused her. It had probably occurred when the daughter was five or six years of age. RP 118-130.

When Juror 25's step-daughter was only four years old, she was abducted from his home around 4:00 a.m. and raped. RP 130. She had spent most of her life up to that point at the Shriners Hospital because she was disabled. RP 134. She was found in a dumpster by a mechanic where the perpetrator had left her. RP 133. The perpetrator had abused multiple victims including one that was 65 years of age. RP 138.

Juror 26 revealed that her older sister was raped by her step-father at the age of 16. In spite of this, her mother still lived with the rapist. Juror 26 still visited her mother weekly, which often required her to be in proximity to her step-father. RP 153. Juror 26 was a retired elementary teacher who had dealt with children who were victims of abuse or rape. RP 150.

Juror 42 had a co-worker who was recently convicted in Idaho and was serving 15-25 years in prison for abusing his girlfriend's two daughters. RP 168-69. Because of his candor with the court when he expressed his concern that he could not be fair, and believed the defendant was guilty, he was released from jury service. RP 174-75.

Juror 46 was abused more than once when he was nine or ten years of age. The abuse was committed by an adult neighbor. He was now

twenty four years of age and had never revealed the abuse to anyone other than his mother prior to this juror service. RP 179. He was asked by the court whether the abuse he had suffered involved penetration. RP 176. Additionally, his little step-sister was molested by his uncle. RP 180. He did not believe he could be fair in this case and was released. RP 183-84.

Juror 47's foster-child was a victim of a sexual abuse. Separately, Juror 47's brother had been accused of abusing his own children. RP 185-194. Juror 49 had a friend that, as a child, was attacked in the woods. RP 195.

## IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

This Court may review a decision of the Court of Appeals that raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). It is beyond question that issues relating to the apparent conflict, rather than synergy, between the the right to a fair trial and the right to a public trial have contributed to this Court's jurisprudence over the last years. See, e.g., In re Speight, 182 Wn.2d 103, 340 P.3d 207 (2014); State v. Slert, 181 Wn.2d 598, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014); State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012); In re Morris, 176 Wn.2d 157, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012); State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012).

To the extent that *Morris* establishes a per se rule of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel on the issue of partial in chambers voir dire, the rule is "incorrect and harmful." *In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970); *see*, *In re Morris*, 176 Wn.2d at 178 (Madsen, J., dissenting), noting in footnote that "[t]here is considerable irony in the fact that a process that benefited the defendant because it promoted more forthcoming disclosure by potential jurors and so aided in jury selection is now challenged because it was not conducted in public where this benefit would not have accrued to the defendant." Irony is too subtle a word. It could be successfully argued that a trial court could refuse defendant's request for a limited in chambers voir dire of jurors in a case such as this, by simply stating that the right to public trial *is more important than the right to a fair trial*, and thereby deny the defendant the likelihood of obtaining a fair and impartial jury and a fair trial.

Second, the reach of the time limit to file collateral relief under RCW 10.73.090 has received recent attention and clarification by this Court, especially as it relates to ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. *In re Erhart*, 183 Wn.2d 144, 147, 351 P.3d 137, 138 (2015); *In re Yates*, 183 Wn.2d 572, 577, 353 P.3d 1283, 1285 (2015); *In re Haghighi*, 178 Wn.2d 435, 309 P.3d 459 (2013); *In re Pers. Restraint of* 

Adams, 178 Wn.2d 417, 422, 309 P.3d 451 (2013). To the extent that the appellate court relied on *In re Pers. Restraint of Skylstad*, 160 Wn.2d 944, 162 P.3d 413 (2007), that case does not address a belatedly raised ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim, and currently seems at odds with *Haghighi* and *Adams. See, In re Adams*, 178 Wn.2d 417, 309 P.3d 451 (2013) (Facial invalidity of judgment and sentence that arose from miscalculated offender score did not restart the limitations period for a personal restraint petition nor otherwise waive the time bar for an ineffectiveness of counsel claim; defendant did not appeal his judgment and sentence, so his judgment became final on the date when the trial court clerk filed the original judgment, rather than when trial court resentenced defendant based on a recalculated offender score several years later).

A. IN REVERSING FORT'S CONVICTION FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE **OF** APPELLATE COUNSEL, THE APPELLATE COURT FAILED TO **CIRCUMSTANCES EXAMINE** THE EXISTING AT THE TIME OF THE FILING OF THE APPELLATE BRIEF IN 2006.

The court of appeals relied solely on *In re Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 808-09, 100 P.3d 291, 297-98 (2004), and *In re Morris*, 176 Wn.2d 157, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012), holding that appellate counsel was ineffective. Opinion, at 39. This analysis is contrary to the well-settled law that to

prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a criminal defendant must demonstrate (1) deficient performance by counsel and (2) resulting prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *In re Cross*, 180 Wn.2d 664, 693, 327 P.3d 660 (2014).

Courts evaluate the reasonableness of a particular action by examining the circumstances at the time of the act. Cross, 180 Wn.2d at 694 "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Id. at 694, quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. No such analysis occurred here. Indeed, courts presume counsel's representation was effective. Id.

An appellate attorney assessing this case under the extant law would know and understand the following legal appellate principles. First, legitimate trial tactics or strategy cannot form the basis for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *State v. Garrett*, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994). What trial tactic could be more legitimate than a defendant's attorney not objecting to a partial closure of voir dire when

that procedure was designed to benefit the defendant by providing him a better forum to obtain a fair jury and a fair trial? This alone militates against raising the issue on appeal. Second, no prejudice could be established - especially without an objection to this process and with the active participation of the defendant's counsel in the process. RAP 2.5. The rationale for refusing to entertain issues for the first time on appeal (RAP 2.5) is well settled: appellate courts "insist[] on issue preservation ... to encourage 'the efficient use of judicial resources.' ... Issue preservation serves this purpose by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals." State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304-05, 253 P.3d 84 (2011) (citation omitted) (quoting State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)). An appellate attorney may well believe an unpreserved, nonprejudicial, beneficial proceeding may not survive RAP 2.5 analysis. As articulated by Madsen, J. in her dissent in *Morris*:

First, the public trial violation was not conspicuous in the record. There was no objection at trial to in-chambers voir dire, unlike the contemporaneous objection in *Orange*, and the issue was in no way developed below. In fact, the opposite is true: the conduct of Morris and his attorney suggests that both approved of the closure and sought to benefit by it. Morris agreed to waive his right to be present during in-chambers questioning because he thought jurors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> All parties benefit from the defendant receiving a fair trial, including the public.

would be more forthcoming if he were not in the room. Unlike Orange, it is not clear under these facts that counsel would be deficient in failing to develop the issue on appeal. Second, and perhaps more importantly, it was not at all clear at the time of Morris's appeal that the public trial issue would be a winning issue on appeal or that it should even be pursued. It may seem clear with the benefit of hindsight after Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 217 P.3d 310, but before Strode this court had never held that partial chambers voir dire would violate the public trial right. Morris's appeal was decided four years before Strode, so it is unlikely that Morris's appellate counsel was constitutionally deficient for failing to raise and develop what may have been a novel legal argument at the time. This is especially true in light of the fact that in-chambers voir dire appeared to be a common practice before Strode. See Lauren A. Rousseau, Privacy and Jury Selection: Does the Constitution Protect Prospective Jurors from Personally Intrusive Voir Dire Questions?, 3 Rutgers J.L. & Urb. Pol'y 287, 311 (2006) (The author surveyed 18 federal judges. "Virtually all" of them allowed potential jurors to answer intrusive or embarrassing questions "privately at the bench or in chambers, with only the judge, the court reporter, and the opposing counsel present."). Morris's attorney either decided not to raise the public trial issue in this case as a strategic matter or else he did not notice it because it was not conspicuous in the record and the case law was undeveloped. Either way, his performance was not deficient.

This analysis strikes to the heart of this case. The present case is unlike *Orange*, and the appeal came long before *Strode*. Appellate counsel was not ineffective for not raising the issue on direct appeal. Respectfully, this Court should accept review of this issue.

B. DID THE DEFENDANT'S MERITLESS SECOND APPEAL FILED IN 2008, AFTER PETITIONER'S RESENTENCING ON THE OFFENDER SCORE RECALCULATION, CREATE A UNIQUE EXCEPTION TO REVIEW BY OPENING THE DOOR TO ALL COLLATERAL CLAIMS WHICH COULD HAVE BEEN RAISED IN THE ORIGINAL APPEAL?

The court of appeals relied on *Skylstad*, *supra*, in reaching its decision that Petitioner's personal restraint petition was timely even though it raised issues relating to ineffective assistance of appellate counsel allegedly arising in the first appeal, even though the mandate on that appeal had issued almost eight years prior to the petitioner first alerting the appellate court to the claim.<sup>5</sup> Opinion at 39-46.

This conclusion, based on *Skylstad*, makes it an inescapable fact that petitioner's one-year time limit for bringing any action relating to the *original* conviction - *has not yet started to run*, and will continue to run until one year after this case is resolved by this Court, or resolved after a second trial and second appeal. This odd procedural "quagmire" prevents the 2007 mandate of the appellate decision addressing all claims relating to the conviction (not the sentence) from becoming final.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The first appeal was mandated December 4, 2007. That appeal upheld defendant's conviction, but remanded for a "same course of conduct" offender score reduction. It is that conviction that defendant now attacks through personal restraint petition. The petitioner first raised the ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim April 3, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The appellate court used this term to describe this Court's appellate and procedural rules in the first sentence of the opinion.

The better rule, with more recent support, would to hold "a judgment is final under RCW 10.73.090(3)(b) when the appellate court issues its mandate disposing of a timely direct appeal from the conviction and the sentence...." *Skylstad*, 160 Wn.2d at 955-56 (Fairhurst, J., dissenting). This rule would harmonize the analysis contained in *Skylstad* with the subsequent cases of *In re Bonds*, 165 Wn.2d 135, 143, 196 P.3d 672, 677 (2008), *In re Haghighi*, 178 Wn.2d at 446, *In re Erhart*, 183 Wn.2d at 148, and *In re Yates*, 183 Wn.2d at 577. This better rule would allow defendants one year to bring a personal restraint petition - or amendment to the petition - on issues related to the decisions addressed in the action from which the mandate issued, and upon further action in the case, within one year of that mandate, but limited to issues arising from that further action. As the court of appeals stated in *In re Haghighi*, 167 Wn. App. 712, 276 P.3d 311 (2012), *aff'd* 178 Wn.2d 435, 309 P.3d 459 (2013):

In Bonds, our Supreme Court held that the principles of timely filing and finality of judgments preclude consideration of arguments made in an untimely amended PRP. Bonds, 165 Wn.2d at 143–44, 196 P.3d 672. The court reasoned, "Though the appellate rules do not expressly authorize or prohibit amendment to PRPs, we have accepted amendments to a PRP made within the statutory time limit." Bonds, 165 Wn.2d at 140, 196 P.3d 672. Even if a petitioner does not move to amend his PRP, his opening brief serves as an amended PRP if it adds a claim not raised in his PRP. In re Pers. Restraint Petition

of Davis, 151 Wn. App. 331, 335 n. 6, 211 P.3d 1055 (2009).

Haghighi, 167 Wn. App. at 726.

Additionally, the court in *Skylstad* does not distinguish between issues raised by personal restraint petition that relate solely to the second sentencing, and are timely, and issues relating to the first appeal that may not be timely. In fact, the *Skylstad* majority opinion implies the argument it was addressing was the State's interpretation of RCW 10.73.090:

The State's reading would require Skylstad to have collaterally attacked his sentence within one year, even though he had no sentence to attack. This incongruity would prevent a defendant from ever being able to collaterally attack his sentence if his second appeal takes longer than a year."

Skylstad, 160 Wn.2d at 953 (2007).

The State's present position is distinguishable from the holding in *Skylstad*. Here, Fort's personal restraint petition was timely filed within one year of the mandate. It is only the amendment occurring in 2015 that is untimely. The State's position is that, under RCW 10.73.090, the one-year time limit for raising issues relating to the first appeal would start when the first appeal was mandated, and that the one-year time limit for issues relating to the resentencing would begin to run at the time the court issued its mandate on the second (sentencing) appeal. This comports with the statute. This reading was apparently left unaddressed by the majority

in *Skylstad*. That ruling should be refined. Allowing the amendment to the PRP in April 2015 in this case defies all rules on finality. *Compare*, *Shumway v. Payne*, 136 Wn.2d 383, 392, 964 P.2d 349, 353 (1998):

It has been three years since this court denied Ms. Shumway's petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision on her direct appeal. Ms. Shumway does not seriously argue, nor could she, that this court should (1) order the Court of Appeals to recall its mandate in this case; (2) vacate our order denying the petition for review; or (3) grant Ms. Shumway a three-year extension of time in which to file an amended petition for review so that she might correct the tactical or inadvertent omission of the severance issue in her original petition

Eight years is a significant delay in alleging a violation stemming from the original conviction upheld on appeal. After such an interminable delay, memories of the event substantially deteriorate, witnesses die or cannot be found, and evidence can be lost, significantly impairing the State and public's right to a fair determination of the case. Certainly, the policies underlying finality apply in this instance. The State respectfully requests this Court accept review of this issue.

#### V. CONCLUSION

As *Strickland* determined, a fair assessment of appellate attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's

perspective at the time. Contrary to *Strickland*, the appellate court adopted an irrefutable legal finding of ineffective assistance based on such hindsight, without any true legal analysis. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

The Skylstad opinion could use some refinement. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). The State respectfully requests this Court accept review of these issues.