E

CRF

Supreme Court No.92387-6  
COA No. 26830-6-III (consolidated with No. 26204-9-III)

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

DALLIN D. FORT,

Defendant/Petitioner.

---

ANSWER TO DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL  
Prosecuting Attorney  
Spokane County

Brian O'Brien  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building  
West 1100 Mallon  
Spokane, Washington 99260  
(509) 477-3662



ORIGINAL

**

## **I. IDENTITY OF PARTY**

Respondent, State of Washington, was the plaintiff in the trial court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals.

## **II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT**

Both parties have filed a petition for review. Respondent seeks denial of Defendant Fort's petition for review of the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals on September 15, 2015.

## **III. ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the Court of Appeals properly declined to consider on a second appeal issues that could have been presented in a prior appeal but were not?

## **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Petitioner Fort was convicted of two counts of first degree rape of a child. He appealed these convictions. His direct appeal raised issues relating to the trial - prosecutorial misconduct, ineffective assistance of counsel, and the sufficiency of the evidence. He also raised in his direct appeal issues regarding the sentencing. *State v. Fort*, 140 Wn. App. 1023, 2007 WL 2476003 (unpublished). In 2007, the Court of Appeals ruled:

Dallin David Fort appeals his two first degree child rape convictions. We agree with Mr. Fort that the court erred in refusing his same criminal conduct argument at sentencing. We reject his other error assignments and his

pro se additional grounds for review. Accordingly, *we affirm and remand for resentencing.*

*Id.*, at \*1 (emphasis added).

The convictions were affirmed. The remand was for *sentencing* purposes only. The opinion was filed September 4, 2007. *State v. Fort*, No. 26830-6-III, 2015 WL 5430243, at \*5-6 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 15, 2015). The mandate issued December 4, 2007.

## V. ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues that the relevant criteria supporting his request for review are RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), claiming the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court and decisions of the Court of Appeals. Def.'s Pet. for Review, p. 4. He claims the Court of Appeals improperly declined to consider on a second appeal issues that could have been presented in a prior appeal, but were not. Defendant Fort claims that his uncontested failure to raise any issue relating to the alleged open court violation on direct appeal was of no consequence because he could raise it in a second direct appeal after the case was remand for resentencing.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Fort does not claim that the open court violation was not identifiable in his original appeal, and in fact claimed in his personal restraint petition that his appellate attorney was ineffective for failing to raise the issue.

There is no conflict here. The Court of Appeals correctly referred to this Court's opinion in *State v. Sauve*, 100 Wn.2d 84, 87, 666 P.2d 894 (1983) in setting forth the general rule:

[A] defendant is prohibited from raising issues on a second appeal that were or could have been raised on the first appeal. RAP 2.5(c); *State v. Sauve*, 100 Wn.2d 84, 87, 666 P.2d 894 (1983); *State v. Mandanas*, 163 Wn. App. 712, 716, 262 P.3d 522 (2011). This rule applies even when the issue is one of constitutional magnitude. *State v. Sauve*, 100 Wn.2d at 87, 666 P.2d 894. The proper vehicle for new issues is a personal restraint petition. *Sauve*, 100 Wn.2d at 87, 666 P.2d 894.

*Fort*, 2015 WL 5430243, at \*14.

This Court reaffirmed this rule in *State v. Barberio*, 121 Wn.2d 48, 846 P.2d 519 (1993):

In *State v. Sauve*, *supra*, this court declined to consider on a second appeal issues that could have been presented in a prior appeal but were not. It is significant that there the issues were not considered by the trial court on remand. In fact, the Court of Appeals in *Sauve* recognized that RAP 2.5(c)(1) would have applied in that case if the issues had been considered and decided anew on remand. *State v. Sauve*, 33 Wn. App. 181, 183 n. 2, 652 P.2d 967 (1982).

*State v. Barberio*, 121 Wn.2d at 51.

The circumstances underlying *Barberio* are similar to those presented in this case. In *Barberio*, after his conviction for third degree rape was reversed in a previous appeal, the defendant was *resentenced* for his remaining conviction of second degree rape. The court reimposed the same exceptional sentence of 72 months that had been imposed at the first

sentencing. *State v. Barberio*, 66 Wn. App. 902, 903, 833 P.2d 459 (1992) *aff'd*, 121 Wn.2d 48, 846 P.2d 519 (1993). The defendant appealed his resentencing. The State moved to dismiss the appeal because Barberio had not challenged his exceptional sentence in his first appeal. The appellate court agreed with the State:

We grant the State's motion as to those issues which could have been raised in the first appeal, and deny the motion as to those issues which could not have been raised at that time. We affirm the exceptional sentence imposed at the resentencing hearing.

*Barberio*, 66 Wn. App. at 903.

Defendant Barberio sought review. In affirming the appellate court, this Court noted the rationale for the rule:

This case well illustrates the necessity of the rule which denies review at this late stage. The issue presented was a clear and obvious issue which could have been decided in 1990 in the first appeal. Instead of a timely and orderly proceeding to determine the matter on the merits, the State, the Court of Appeals, a department of this Court, and allied staff, have had to deal with a procedural morass, all of which could have been avoided had the matter been raised when it should have been in the first appeal. In the interest of judicial economy, already too much wasted, we hereby affirm the Court of Appeals without further proceedings.

*Barberio*, 121 Wn.2d at 52.